IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 94-60233
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS
DANI EL MERCADO,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas
(M 93-CR-196-1)

(April 21, 1995)
Before SMTH, EM LIO M GARZA, and PARKER, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Dani el Mercado appeals his conviction of, and sentence for,
conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute in excess of 100
kil ograns of marihuana, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1) and
(b)(1)(B) and 846. Finding no error, we affirm

" Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that have no
precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens
on the | egal profession.” Pursuant to that rule, the court has deternined
that this opinion should not be published.



| .

Mer cado was charged with conspiracy to possess with intent to
di stribute over 100 kil ograns of mari huana begi nning in Novenber
1992 and continuing to March 11, 1993 (count one); possession with
intent to distribute about 83 kil ograns of mari huana on or about
March 11, 1993 (count two); and possession with intent to distrib-
ute about 128 kil ograns of mari huana on or about Novenber 20, 1992
(count three). A jury found himguilty of the conspiracy alleged
in count one but acquitted himof the two substantive counts. The
district court sentenced Mercado to 78 nonths of inprisonnent, to

be followed by a four-year term of supervised rel ease.

.

A
Mercado argues that the evidence was insufficient to support
his conspiracy conviction. In reviewwng a challenge to the
sufficiency of the evidence, we determ ne whether a rational trier
of fact could have found that the evidence established guilt beyond

a reasonabl e doubt. United States v. Ivey, 949 F. 2d 759, 766 (5th

Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 113 S. . 64 (1992). Moreover, we View
"all evidence and any inference that may be drawn fromit in the
light nost favorable to the governnent."” 1d. The evidence need
not excl ude every reasonabl e hypot hesis of innocence or be wholly
i nconsi stent with every conclusion except that of guilt, and we

accept all credibility choices that tend to support the verdict.

United States v. Pofahl,990 F.2d 1456, 1467 (5th Gr.), cert.




denied, 114 S. . 266 and 114 S. C. 560 (1993).

To prove the drug conspiracy charges, the governnent was
required to establish beyond a reasonable doubt (1) that a
conspiracy existed, i.e., that two or nore people agreed to viol ate
the narcotics laws; (2) that the defendant knew of the conspiracy;
and (3) that he voluntarily participated in the conspiracy. United

States v. Cardenas, 9 F.3d 1139, 1157 (5th Cr. 1993), cert.

denied, 114 S. C. 2150 (1994). The elenents of the conspiracy
need not be proven by direct evidence; rather, they may be inferred
fromcircunstantial evidence. |d. Thus, agreenent may be inferred

from"concert of action,” and voluntary participationinferred from
a "collection of circunstances.” 1d. Simlarly, know edge of the
conspiracy may be inferred froma "collection of circunstances,"
i ncl udi ng evi dence of erratic and evasi ve behavior. [d. "Al though
mere presence at the scene of the crine or a close association with
a co-conspirator alone cannot establish voluntary participation in
a conspiracy, presence or associationis a factor that, along with
ot her evidence, may be relied upon to find conspiratorial activity
by the defendant." [d. (internal citation omtted). Finally, "to
establish a violation of 21 U S.C. § 846, the Governnent need not

prove the conmm ssion of any overt acts in furtherance of the

conspiracy." United States v. Shabani, 115 S. C. 382, 385 (1994).

Testi nony established the follow ng: Cesar Cuellar, a deputy
sheriff in Zapata County, Texas, was arrested in Novenber 1992 and
charged with conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute

approxi mately 500 pounds of nmarihuana, actual possession wth



intent to distribute about 100 pounds of marihuana, and two gun
counts. Cuellar pleaded guilty and agreed to cooperate with the
gover nnment .

In March 1993, Heriberto Garcia, Daniel Mrcado, and Erasno
Cuellar, who is not related to Cesar Cuellar, solicited Cesar
Cuellar's help to transport mari huana. On March 8, 1993, Mercado
went to Cesar Cuellar's honme and asked whet her he could hel p nove
about 200 pounds of marihuana from Roma, Texas, through a check
point going to Houston, Texas. Cuel l ar agreed and imedi ately
contacted Sigifredo Gonzalez, Jr., a task force investigator for
the Drug Enforcenent Adm nistration (DEA)

Two days later, Garcia picked Cuellar up at honme and brought
himto the H Il Top Store in La Rosita, south of Roma. Garcia is
a former brother-in-lawof Mercado's and a friend of Cesar Cuel | ar.
When they arrived at the store, Garcia got out of the truck and
went i nside. Eventual |y, Mercado cane out of the store and got
into the truck with Cesar Cuellar to di scuss noving the 200 pounds
of mari huana. Mercado nentioned to Cuellar that he had 600 pounds
to nove but that they were going to nove just 200 pounds.

Around March 10, Cesar Cuellar rode in Mercado's bl ack Miust ang
GIO to the sane store to continue negotiating the sale of the
mar i huana. At this second neeting, Mercado net with Garcia and
some other nen, one of whom was Torill o Fernandez. Mer cado and
Cuel | ar stayed in constant contact, either on the phone or at each
ot her's hone, to discuss noving the mari huana.

On the evening before the marihuana was to be transported,



Mer cado pi cked Cuellar up at hone and drove to Garcia's residence.
The three rode around in Mercado's car on back streets. Mercado
advi sed Garcia that the man who was to deliver the mari huana to him
the next norning was unable to, but that sonme "fat guy" was going
to do it. Garcia said that he was going to use his sister's car,
a white four-door Dynasty, Plynouth Dodge, or sonme kind of
Chrysler. Mercado had offered Garcia $10,000 to transport the
mar i huana. The three nen agreed to | eave Zapata at 6:30 the next
nmorni ng. Mercado gave Garcia his digital beeper. Cuellar was to
drive a blue truck, which was to be the "heat vehicle." The truck
had a cellular phone that Cuellar would use to beep Garcia if
sonet hi ng went wong. The truck was owned by Garcia's girlfriend,
Thel ma Bust anent e.

The next norning Garcia arrived at Cuellar's honme but was
driving a white Beretta, not the vehicle he had pl anned on dri vi ng.
Garcia drove Cuellar to Garcia's girlfriend' s house to get the bl ue
truck. After Cuellar got the blue truck, he used a pay phone to
contact Gonzal ez, who woul d be conducting surveillance, totell him
about the change in the cars. Cuellar then picked up Mercado, and
they drove to Roma, where they were to neet Garcia at a Dairy Queen
and then proceed to Zapata. The plan was to take the mari huana
back to Garcia's girlfriend' s ranch, where it would be stored in a
trailer wuntil Cuellar could pick it up and get it past the
checkpoint. Id.

At the Dairy Queen, Mercado nade sone phone calls. Eventu-

ally, Garcia arrived at the Dairy Queen, having previously picked



up the marihuana. Mercado and Cuel lar then proceeded to Zapat a.
En route, Torillo Fernandez flashed them down with his |ights.
Mer cado got out of the truck and tal ked wi th Fernandez, who advi sed
that a checkpoi nt was ahead. Cuellar paged Garcia on the beeper
with the information. Mercado and Cuel l ar turned around and drove
back to Rona. On the way, they saw that Garcia had been arrested.
Therefore, Cuellar turned off the road and headed back to Zapata
t hrough the checkpoint.

The |local police officer who arrested Garcia obtained
perm ssion to search the car. He seized 185 pounds of mari huana.

Prior to the above-described incident, Cesar Cuellar had net
wth Mercado and Erasno Cuellar in Novenber 1992, shortly after
Cuel | ar was arrested but before he had agreed to cooperate with the
gover nnent . Erasno Cuell ar had been arrested for possession of
mar i huana, and the other nmen wanted Cesar Cuellar's help in getting
Erasnmo Cuellar a light sentence. Cesar Cuellar recommended t hat
Erasnmo Cuel l ar cooperate with the governnent. At the neeting,
Mer cado di scl osed that the mari huana that Erasno Cuel | ar was caught
wi th was Mercado's and that Mercado had | ost $60, 000 as a result of
t he arrest.

Thus, the testinony at trial was such that the jury coul d have
reasonably found that in March 1993 Mercado had an agreenent with
Cesar Cuellar and Garcia, and possibly others, to transport 200
pounds of mari huana. Cuellar's testinony establishes that Mercado
solicited Cuellar's help and that he discussed the details of the

plan with him and Garcia on nore than one occasion. Mor eover



Mercado was instrunental in facilitating Garcia's transporting of
t he mari huana, i nasnmuch as he offered to pay Garcia $10, 000 for the
job and gave him a beeper to be used in case of energency.
Finally, Mercado was in the "heat vehicle" the day Garcia was
arrested. This collocation of circunstances supports the jury's
finding that Mercado agreed with at |east one other person to
viol ate the narcotics | aws, knew of the conspiracy, and voluntarily

participated in it. See Cardenas, 9 F.3d 1139 at 1157.

B.

Mercado clains that the district court failed to nake a
correct finding pursuant to FED. R CRM P. 32(c)(3)(D) regarding
t he amount of drugs attributable to him Rule 32(c)(3)(D) requires
that the district court resolve specifically disputed factual
issues if it intends to use the facts as a basis for its sentence.
Rule 32 is satisfied if the district court rejects the defendant's
objections and specifically adopts responsive portions of the

presentence report ("PSR'). United States v. Mdira, 994 F.2d 1129,

1141 (5th Gr.) (adoption of findings of PSR sufficient factual

determ nation of quantity of drugs under rule 32), cert. denied,
114 S. Ct. 417 (1993).

The PSR stated that, pursuant to U S.S.G § 1B1.3, the total
amount of marihuana connected to Mercado's offense was 398. 7956
kil ograns. Testinony and the PSR show that Mercado owned the 128
kil ograns of marihuana for which Erasnpo Cuellar was arrested in

Novenber 1992 and which was the subject of count three. Further,



testi nony established that Mercado conspired to nove 200 pounds of
a 600- pound shi pnent of mari huana. The PSR stated that according
to the confidential informant ("Cl"), the source of the 600 pounds
was a man known as "El Gusanito." Further, at one of the neetings
at the Hlltop G ocery Store at which Mercado was present, it was
deci ded that 200 pounds of the 600-pound | oad woul d be transported

ina "trial run" and that the remaining 400 pounds woul d be noved
at alater tine. 1d. Thus, the total amount of nari huana the PSR
attributed to Mercado was derived from the 128 kil ograns sei zed
when Erasno Cuel |l ar was arrested and the 600 pounds i nvolved in the
March 1993 transacti on.

In his objections to the PSR, Mercado disputed the anount,

arguing, inter alia, that the 400 pounds should not be included

because "there is no credible and reliable evidence that ‘400
pounds' ever existed and/or El Gusanito never agreed to transfer
said '400 Ibs." to any nenber of this indictnent's alleged
conspiracy." The probation officer responded that the 600 pounds,
| ess three pounds for wappings, could be attributed to Mercado
pursuant to the relevant conduct provisions of § 1B1.3(a)(1)(A).
Mercado rai sed the objection at sentencing, arguing that his only
role in the case was aiding in the transportation of about 180
pounds of mari huana. The district court overrul ed the objection,
stating that the court did not find that Mercado was a nere
passenger in that transaction. The court subsequently adopted the
findings of the PSR, making them part of the record.

Mercado argues that the district court did not conply with



rule 32 because it did not nake fact findings regarding the anount
of marihuana attributed to him based upon what he should have
reasonably foreseen as part of the conspiracy. Mercado relies upon

United States v. Webster, 960 F.2d 1301 (5th Cr.), cert. denied,

113 S. C. 355 (1992), to support his argunent. In that case,
however, the court held that because the PSR failed to state the
anount of drugs that each coconspirator should have foreseen, the
district court's adoption of the PSR did not satisfy rule 32.
Webster, 906 F.2d 1309-10. 1In the instant case, the PSR specifi-
cally addressed Mercado's argunent. Moreover, the anount of drugs
the PSR attributed to Mercado was not based upon what he should
have reasonably foreseen pursuant to 8§ 1B1.3(a)(1)(B), but on the
basis of all his acts pursuant to § 1B1.3(a)(1)(A).! Inasmuch as
the PSR specifically addressed Mercado's objection, as did the
court, both in adopting the PSR and in responding orally to
Mercado' s argunent at sentencing, the court was in conpliance with

rule 32(c)(3)(D).

C.
Mercado argues that the court erred when it calculated the
anount of marihuana attributable to hi mbecause it |unped anounts
of mari huana charged in counts two and three to obtain a single

sentence and because the charges in those counts were not related

! Section 1B1.3(a)(1)(B) provides that when a defendant is part of a
conspiracy, "all reasonably foreseeable acts and onissions of others in
furtherance of the jointly undertaken crimnal activity" may be considered in
reachi ng his base of fense |evel.



to the charge stated in count one because different tines, places,
and conspirators were invol ved. He al so asserts that the court
erred when it found that 461. 6 pounds were invol ved for sentencing
purposes. |d. at 17.2

"The anount of drugs for which an individual shall be held
account abl e at sentencing represents a factual finding, and will be

upheld unless clearly erroneous."” United States v. Maseratti

1 F.3d 330, 340 (5th Gir. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. C. 1096
(1994) .

A finding of fact is clearly erroneous when, although
there is enough evidence to support it, the review ng
court is left with a firmand definite conviction that a
m st ake has been conmm tted. If the district court's
account of the evidence is plausible in light of the
record viewed in its entirety, the court of appeals may
not reverse it even though convinced that, had it been
sitting as the trier of fact, it would have wei ghted the
evidence differently.

United States v. Bernea, 30 F.3d 1539, 1575 (5th Gr. 1994)

(citations omtted), cert. denied, 115 S C. 1113 (1995).

Appl i cations of the guidelines are reviewed de novo. United States

v. Wnbish, 980 F.2d 312, 313 (5th Gr. 1992), cert. denied,
113 S. C. 2365 (1993).

As noted above, trial testinony and the PSR show t hat Mercado
owned the 128 kil ograns of mari huana for which Erasno Cuel | ar was
arrested i n Novenber 1992 and whi ch was t he subject of count three.

Further, trial testinony established that Mercado conspired to nove

2 As di scussed bel ow, and as argued by the government, the district
court stated that Mercado was involved with nmore than 220 pounds of mari huana.
The district court |later adopted, "as justification" of Mercado's sentence,
"all justifications which are included in this [PSR." The PSR stated that
Mer cado was involved with 398. 7956 kil ograms of marihuana.

10



200 pounds of a 600-pound shipnment of mari huana.

At the sentencing hearing, the court responded to Mercado's
obj ection regarding how many pounds of marihuana were involved
The court discussed the trial evidence and determ ned that it
showed that Mercado was involved with the 128 kil ogranms (count
three) and with the 180 pounds in Garcia's car that was part of a
600- pound shipnment (count two). The court inplied that it was
irrelevant whether the renmaining 400 pounds of the 600-pound
shi pnent was i ncl uded, as the applicabl e guideline range was for at
least 100 kilogranms and Iless than 400 kil ograns. See
§ 2D1.1(c)(7).® The court concluded that, at any rate, Mercado was
i nvol ved with nore than 200 pounds of mari huana.

The gui delines provide that a conviction on a count charging
a conspiracy to commt nore than one offense shall be treated as
t hough the defendant had been convicted on a separate count of
conspiracy for each offense that the defendant conspired to comm t.
8§ 1B1.2(d). Commentary to that guideline references § 3D1.2(d),
which permts grouping counts and using an aggregate anount to
reach the amount of drugs attributable to a defendant when the
of fense behavior is ongoing or continuous in nature. See
§ 1Bl1.2(d) comment., n.4. Because count one charged that the
conspi racy began in Novenber 1992 and continued to March 11, 1993,

counts two and three coul d be grouped to reach an aggregate anount

3 1f the remaining 400 pounds were not attributed to Mercado, the result
woul d be approximately 211 kil ograns and woul d not affect the guideline range,
i nasmuch as the anmobunt attributed to himwould still be nore than 100 kil o-
grans but |ess than 400 kilograns. See § 2D1.1(c)(7).

11



of marihuana attributable to Mercado. I nasmuch as the evidence
shows that Mercado was involved with the anmounts of marihuana
charged in counts two and three, the district court's finding that
he was involved wth nore than 200 pounds of mari huana was not

clearly erroneous.

D.

Mercado challenges the two-level enhancenent in his base
of fense | evel pursuant to 8 3Bl1.1(c) for his role in the conspir-
acy. Citing authority outside this circuit, Mercado argues that
his of fense | evel should not have been enhanced because he was not
the conspiracy's initiator, nor did he control others in the
or gani zati on.

A district court's determnation that a defendant played an
aggravating role is a factual finding subject to the "clearly

erroneous” standard of review United States v. Al varado, 898 F. 2d

987, 993 (5th Cr. 1990). Section 3Bl.1(c) requires a two-Ileve
increase in a defendant's offense level if the defendant was a
manager or supervisor in the crimnal activity. Factors for
consideration in making the determ nation include
t he exerci se of decision nmaking authority, the nature of
participation in the conmssion of the offense, the
recruitment of acconplices, the clained right to alarger
share of the fruits of the crine, the degree of partici-
pation in planning or organi zing the offense, the nature
and scope of the illegal activity, and the degree of
control and authority exercised over others.
§ 3Bl1.1(c), application note 3.

The PSR indicates that Mercado was part owner of the 200

12



pounds of nmarihuana confiscated on March 11, 1993, that he
recruited an individual who was a Cl to transport the mari huana,
and that he instructed the C to contact Garcia and arrange a
nmeeting at the Hlltop Gocery Store. Testinony established that
Mer cado was present at two neetings at the grocery store to discuss
the deal, that he recruited Garcia by offering to pay hi m$10, 000,
that he provided Garcia a beeper to be used while transporting the
mar i huana, and that he was in constant contact with Cesar Cuellar
in March 1993. Thus, the evidence shows that while Mercado m ght
not have been an initiator or "in control," he neverthel ess had a
big role in planning and that he recruited others to nove 200
pounds of marihuana in March 1993. Likew se, the evidence shows
that Mercado owned the marihuana for which Erasno Cuellar was
arrested in November 1992 and that he had invested $60,000 in it.
Accordingly, the district court's finding that Mercado' s base
of fense | evel should be increased two |levels for his role in the
conspiracy was not clearly erroneous.

AFFI RVED.
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